THE NUNTIUS National Journal of Eta Sigma Phi

VOL. XV, No. 2

JANUARY, 1941

NATIONAL JOURNAL OF ETA SIGMA PHI

Volume XV

January, 1941

Number 2

Board of Editors

.

MARGARET S. DUKES, Alpha Alpha JANET FULLINWIDER, Alpha Omicron MARY LOTT, Gamma Robert H. McGregor, Alpha Psi

National Officers

MEGAS PRYTANIS Edward A. Scallet 7546 York Drive Clayton, Missouri

MEGAS GRAMMATEUS CARL MILLER 424 Marshall St. Jackson, Mississippi

MEGAS CHRYSOPHYLAX HARRIETTE COCHRAN Agnes Scott College Decatur, Georgia

EXECUTIVE SECRETARY MARY K. BROKAW Ohio University Athens, Ohio

BOARD OF TRUSTEES

PROPESSOR ROY C. FLICKINGER, Chairman The State University of Iowa Iowa City, Iowa

PROFESSOR VICTOR D. HILL Ohio University Athens, Ohio

PROFESSOR H. LLOYD STOW University of Oklahoma Norman, Oklahoma

PROFESSOR A. PELZER WAGENER College of William and Mary Williamsburg, Virginia

PROFESSOR HORACE W. WRIGHT Lehigh University Bethlehem, Pennsylvania

+

ALEX MEKEDIS, Gamma Evalyn Thomas, Gamma Joyce Walker, Rho Mary K. Brokaw, Editor-in-Chief

Table of Contents

The Coming National Convention 2
Membership Cards Again 2
What's My Name? 2
The Classics and the Present War 4
Translations from Catullus 5
A Green Tree Dips Its Leaves 5
Mythology Metamorphosed 5
The Matter of Enrollment in the Classics. 6
Upsilon's Roman Banquet Gains Publicity. 7
Among the Chapters 8
Here and There4, 6, 7
Chapter Directory11

Published four times a year, in November, January, March, and May, by the national society of Eta Sigma Phi. The office of publication is 213 Ellis Hall, Ohio University, Athens, Ohio. All matters relating to publication should be sent to the Editor in Chief.

Entered as second-class matter December 16, 1940, at the post office at Athens, Ohio, under the Act of August 24, 1912.

The Coming National Convention

Although it may seem somewhat early and although the March issue of the NUNTIUS will contain details of the program, it is really none too soon for members everywhere to be thinking of the Eta Sigma Phi National Convention in the spring and to be making plans for attending it. Some chapters already have shown interest in it and will complete their plans for representation at it when the details have been worked out.

Everyone knows, of course, that the Convention is to meet this year in St. Louis, with members of Alpha Xi Chapter as hosts. Miss Patricia May, local grammateus, writes that committees have been appointed to see to various details and that all these committees are hard at work in order to make the Convention a successful one.

The Alpha Xi Chapter entertained the Convention in 1933 and proved excellent hosts on that occasion. There is no doubt that they will seek to repeat their earlier success, and chapters everywhere can help them in this endeavor by sending as large representations as possible.

Membership Cards Again

This is to serve again as a reminder that membership cards, signed by the Megas Prytanis and Megas Grammateus of the current year, are now being distributed from the office of the Executive Secretary and may be obtained upon request. Further, there is a supply of cards for the year 1938-1939 on hand, and these too will be issued to chapters requesting them. If, for some reason, cards were not secured for that year by a chapter and there is still interest in having them, they will be sent as soon as the request is received.

What's My Name?

Miss Delores Keith, prytanis of Delta Chapter, is the author of this entertaining contest fashioned after the manner of the radio program bearing the same name. For the benefit of readers who may not be acquainted with the program, it should be stated that several clues are given for each character, the clues gradually decreasing in difficulty. If the first clue does not suggest the answer, the next is read, etc.

See how many you can guess, using the first clue only. Answers to the contest are on page 10.

1.

- a. I am one of the daughters of two Titans, Cronus and Rhea. For the benefit of mortals, I was married to Jupiter. My sacred objects are cows, sheep, pigs, the golden ears of corn, and the poppy.
- b. Although I could not help Psyche in her wanderings, I directed her to Venus.
- c. I am the goddess of the green things of the earth, the goddess of agriculture. For a part of the year, I mourn for my daughter who was taken from me to the Lower World.
- d. My daughter's name is Proserpina. The word *cereal* comes fom my name.
- 2. a. I am unattractive in physical appear-
- ance, bulky, lame. I am the husband of Venus. b. I built the palaces upon Mt. Olym-
- pus. I fashion the arms used by the gods. Thus, my name is associated with war equipment.
- c. My workshops are located under the earth, and the outlets to my forges are volcanoes.
- d. I am the patron of artisans, the god of fire. The word *vulcanize* comes from my name.
- a. I am the brother of Europa and Cilix.

My wife's name is Harmonia, my daughter's, Semele. Both my wife and I became serpents.

- b. I built the city of Thebes. I am the king of Thebes.
- c. I killed the dragon and sowed the dragon's teeth.

4.

a. I am a special attendant of Juno.

- b. I am Juno's special messenger.
- c. I fly back and forth between heaven and earth, trailing brilliant colors in my wake.
- d. I am the goddess of the rainbow.

5.

- a. I gave Ulysses a leather bag bound with a silver cord. All his troubles would have been ended had his men not opened the bag.
- b. Juno sought my aid to impede Aeneas' progress.
- c. I am the god of the winds.
- d. Coleridge has a poem called the Aeolian Harp, thus indirectly refering to me.
 - 6. on of Ser
- a. I am the son of Semele and Jupiter. At least thirty musical compositions (operettas) bear my name.
- b. I gave Midas the golden touch, and, at last, took it away. I preserved the life of Ariadne at Naxos after The seus had deserted her.
- c. I have a constant escort of strange followers, including fauns, satyrs, sileni, and queer women. The largest theater in Athens bore my name.
- d. My gift to Greece was the vine. I am the god of vegetation and of wine.

7.

- a. We are sisters, three in number. Our names are Clotho, Lachesis, and Atropos.
- b. We are supreme beings. Jove is merely our chief administrator.
- c. We are called the Parcae—sparers.
- a. I rescued Arethusa, the nymph, from looked back as I led her to e Alpheus, by changing her into a d. My wife's name is Eurydice.

bubbling spring. I changed Actaeon into a stag.

- b. There is a famous temple to me at Ephesus, in Asia Minor.
- c. A trick of my brother caused me to kill Orion. I came down from my celestial height to kiss Endymion.
- d. I am called a "triple-formed goddess," for I am known in three aspects.
- e. My favorite hobby is hunting, although I love and protect wild animals. I am unmarried and the patron of girls.

9.

- a. I am the father of Aesculapius. My mother was Latona. I killed the seven sons of Niobe.
- b. The Pythian Games are held every four years in my honor. Laurel leaves fashioned into a wreath compose the prize.
- c. I was born on the island of Delos. I have a twin sister.
- d. I am the sun god, and am associated with poetry, music, and the lyre. I am the inspiration for oracles, and the patron of athletes. Young men of handsome appearance are called by my name.

10.

- a. Because I refused to join the wild revels of the *Bacchantes*, the latter tore me limb from limb, and threw my head and my lyre into the Hebrus River. Through the solicitude of the Muses, the fragments of my body were collected and buried at the foot of Mt. Parnassus.
- b. Twenty-seven operas bear either my name or that of my wife. My name is a favorite one for musical clubs, choirs, music halls, and opera houses.c. My musical genius was my inheri-
- c. My musical genius was my inheritance from my mother, the Muse Calliope, and my father, Apollo. Through the power of my music, I won back my wife from the Lower World, but lost her again because I looked back as I led her to earth.

Page Three

Page Two

The Classics and the Present War

When one endeavors to relate a knowledge of the past of Greece and Rome to the present conflict, he is almost overwhelmed at the enormity of the undertaking, so many and so varied are the points of resemblance and connection. Comparisons with struggles for freedom on the part of the Greeks inevitably suggest themselves. Hardly any journalist of modern times has failed to cite, by way of comparison, the Greeks' most famous war in antiquity. that of the conflict against the Persian forces in the 5th century B.C. The Persians, like the present-day Italians, were vastly the superior of the Greeks in numbers and equipment, but all this counted ultimately for little against Greek strategy. In the 5th century, the Greeks took advantage of their knowledge of the terrain, and their tactics often depended on the character of the land on which the battle was to be fought. The same seemed true in the present war, at least as long as the fighting was occurring on Greek soil.

Some time ago the papers carried reports of how the Greeks pushed great boulders down the mountain heights against advancing Italians. At once one recalls the story of Herodotus in which he tells that the gods rolled stones down from Mt. Parnassus against the Persians when they had advanced to Delphi. The only difference seems to be that of divine versus human agency!

Now that the fighting is occurring on Albanian soil, the place names do not mean so much to the classicist, as at the time when action was occurring in Greece proper, although the Albanian port of Durazzo, which figures in the news, is the ancient Dyrrachium, made famous in Caesar's civil war commentary.

Any mention of the Greek islands, of course, immediately suggests the past. In particular, when the island of Samos was reported under fire, a curious coin-

Page Four

cidence arose. Archaeologists there have been busy with excavations on the island and particularly with the temple to Hera, and one American archaeologist, Mr. Rodney Young, who has spent some six years in Greece and who has been especially interested in Samos, has undertaken the operation of an ambulance in Greece. The past and present seem to be connected in a very vivid and practical way in this instance.

Of all the articles on the current war, one of the most interesting, from the classicist's point of view, is that written by Elmer Davis, the war commentator, and published in the Saturday Review of Literature of October 14, 1939, under the title "Required Reading." His position in this article (and one that journalists later have echoed) is that an understanding of the present conflict can best be gained by reading Thucydides. (He recommends reading it in the original, incidentally, but, second best, in a translation.) He sets up surprising parallels of the Peloponnesian War and the World War of 1914 and the current one, quoting passages from Thucydides that are as applicable to present-day conditions as to those of the 5th century B.C. Incidentally. Mr. Davis' own article seems anything but ephemeral, and is as timely now, after more than a year — which is a long time when events move and change so rapidly — and as pertinent as when it was first written.

HERE AND THERE

"Times Square lingo in the mouths of Roman patricians and Levantine galley slaves" is part of Clifton Fadiman's characterization of Frank S. Stuart's *Caravan for China*. Fadiman describes the novel as a "thriller," the action of which is laid in the time of Jesus. The hero is a gigantic Greek mercenary, Simon of Cyrene.

THE NUNTIUS

Translations from Catullus

By LOIS IONS NICHOLS, Alpha Delta

PASSER MORTUUS EST

O Venus and the Cupids, weep, And every lover of the small: My maid's wee bird has gone to sleep, And never will return at all.

She loved it better than her eyes— The darling knew her as a mother— It flew about her with its cries, And never cheeped for any other.

But now it's gone the darksome way Of Dis, whose portals none may leave. Fie, Wraiths! to hold it in your sway! Fie, Shades! to make my Lesbia grieve!

For now my maiden's eyes are wet, And red and swollen now with weeping.

A Green Tree Dips Its Leaves

By MARY BUXTON, Beta Gamma

[The following poem appeared in the December, 1940, issue of *The Messenger*, literary publication of the University of Richmond.]

Arbor flucticulos viridis tinget folia alte Stagni frondorum effigiem clare retegentis.

- Si tempestas verrat silvam, bracchia flectant.
- Et crinita salix caput attollat cubitum .almum.
- A green tree dips its leaves deeply into the ripples
- Of the lake showing clearly the image of the foliage.
- If a storm should sweep through the forest, the branches would sway,
- And the flowing haired willow would bear on high her bowed and yielding head.

O little bird, she's mourning yet That never more she'll hear thy cheeping.

FRATER, AVE ATQUE VALE

Through foreign lands and waters borne I come, o brother, to thy bier, To speak to thee who cannot hear, To weep for thee who cannot mourn.

This, dearest brother, whose sad doom Hath laid thee low before my face, This is the tribute which our race Hath ever rendered at the tomb.

O thou whom Orcus now doth quell, Thou snatched from me by cruel fate, Take thou this gift, although 'tis late, Hail, o my brother, and farewell!

Mythology Metamorphosed

By BETTY JEAN DICKERSON, Theta

"Oh, East is East, and West is West, and never the twain shall meet . . . Imbued with this sentiment, business has identified itself for a long time merely with the practical aspects of life, meanwhile scorning the classics to a great extent. Recently, however, the Burlington Railroad found a most practical use for mythology in advertising its two new streamlined trains. In a small booklet, Interlude on Mount Olympus, by Gene Morgan, the gods and goddesses present in a very interesting way the various attractive features of these new trains. Thus the author has served two purposes-he has used a novel medium of advertising, and he has found a practical use for a subject long condemned by many as interesting but useless.

Mr. Morgan has written a clever shortshort story in which the gods and god-- (Continued on page six)

Page Five

The Matter of Enrollment in the Classics

Miss Myra Jean Hennon, prytanis of Theta Chapter, has sent to the office a résumé of a study made recently at Indiana University which reveals the status of Latin in Indiana for the year 1939-1940, as compared with the year 1935-1936.

The results obtained are interesting, and, briefly stated, are as follows:

In 1935-1936, of the 884 junior and senior high schools in the state, 819 offered Latin. Of the 891 schools in 1939-1940, 786 included Latin in their curricula. The number of Latin teachers increased in the five-year period from 908 to 922. The enrollment in Latin classes suffered a drop from 39,166 to 33,007 pupils.

There is no indication in this report as to the status of general enrollment, of course, and what seems to be a rather sharp decline in Latin enrollment may be reflecting a general loss in number of students registered in the high schools of the state.

In this connection an article appearing in the January Classical Outlook containing a statement of the status of languages in the high schools of New York City, based on findings for the current school year, furnishes material for comparison. In New York City, where a loss both in foreign language enrollment and in general language enrollment is reported, Latin has lost only 23 students, as against a loss of 3662 in French, 1276 in German, and 387 in Italian. Oddly enough, Greek has lost only 4 students. A total of 20,167 students are studying Latin there, and this, of course, represents only the public high schools. The number would be much larger, naturally, if the enrollments of the private schools in the state had been added.

In any case, the reports contain food for thought. We hope it would seem a safe assumption to say that Latin, in the face of declines in general enrollments which have been felt throughout

Page Six

the country, is not showing the sharp decrease that one might expect. We wonder, too, what effect present world conditions will have on language study in general. It would be fine, but obviously *praeter spem*, if admiration for the Hellenes in their current struggle were to increase the enrollment in Greek. Possibly decline of interest in modern foreign languages will cause a rise in interest in ancient tongues, although there is no basis for such an assumption, naturally. In any case, the next few years are sure to prove interesting ones in the field of education.

Mythology Metamorphosed

(Continued from page five) desses assemble in a general meeting to learn from the divine messenger, Mercury, what new mode of transportation has been named in their honor. These modern Olympian inhabitants still possess their old attributes and qualities, but in addition all have found new interests in their efforts to keep up with the times. Their adaptation to the present-day world, as well as their surprise at the activities of the mortals and their delight in having inspired the naming of the Twin Zephyrs, has been artfully presented.

At last we see the classics streamlined!

HERE AND THERE

Of interest currently are the December, 1940, and the January, 1941, issues of the National Geographic. The former contains an enlightening article on the British campaign in Africa under the caption "Old-New Battle Grounds of Egypt and Libia" in which the author, W. Robert Moore, links the ancient past with the present in the current conflict.

The January issue carries 19 illustrations (no article in connection with them) under the title "Classic Greece Merges into 1941 News."

THE NUNTIUS

Upsilon's Roman Banquet Gains Publicity

The Spectator, newspaper of Mississippi State College for Women, in its issue of November 19 carries an account of a Roman banquet enjoyed by members of Upsilon Chapter and the Classical Club. It carries too a picture of the celebrants, reclining and feasting in "true and lavish Roman style." Nineteen guests and four "slaves" took part in the fun.

Under the caption "Roman Banquet Turns Time to Past; Goose Quacks in Amazement" this account of what must have been a highly enjoyable evening appears:

"The full significance of that oft repeated 'do as the Romans do' was realized Tuesday night when a score of Roman lords and ladies, alias members of Classical Club and Eta Sigma Phi, stepped through two thousand years of time to wine (with red punch) and dine in the Goose.

"Togged, or rather togaed, in purple, gold, and white and wearing sandals, they defied American manners in the most appalling fashion, reclining luxuriously on bright couches with myriads of pillows, and no doubt satisfied long suppressed desires to throw etiquette to the winds.

"Amid this strange company, slaves appeared and disappeared at mere clapping of hands, dining tables made a belated appearance after the guests had reclined, silverware was an unknown quantity and Emily Post was quite obviously two thousand years in the future.

"The proper preface to these revels was a sonorous prayer to the gods uttered by the host — then with the removal of their sandals, the guests reclined to be served three elaborate courses — Roman from the lovely round loaves of bread to the distressing absence of water. Huge platters were passed round and round, and veal chops, fish, carrots, brussels sprouts disappeared without benefit of silverware. Slaves crowned the diners with garlands of gay flowers and the spirit of fellowship reigned supreme.

"Following an old Roman custom, a second note of solemnity was introduced when salted meal was offered on a flowerdecked altar as a libation to the Lares.

"The master of ceremonies, Miss Mary Agnes Livingston, who won his title by virtue of the highest throw of the knuckle bones, called upon guests for performances — so along with the wine (red sparkling punch), fruit, and cookies of the third course the guests were entranced with the unrivaled grace of the dancing girls of Cadiz, Misses Dot Hamlin and Betty Wade Cox. Captain Juggernut, imposing in his soldier's uniform and carrying a shield, celebrated his trusty sword in a song and the traditional Sponge stepped out of the 'Menaechmi' to deliver a eulogy in praise of food. Masquerading in these two parts were Miss Mary Louise Matthew and Miss Joyce Anderson respectively."

HERE AND THERE

The recent bombing of the Greek town of Preveza, modern military base on the west coast of Greece, reminds the reader that within a stone's throw (or should we say a bomb's throw?) are both the ancient Actium, site of Octavian's victory over the fleet of Antony and Cleopatra in 31 B.C., and the ancient Nicopolis, a town founded by Octavian to commemorate his victory at Actium. Of this ancient town there are very extensive remains, with some mosaic floors, in particular, well preserved.

Page Seven

AMONG THE CHAPTERS

News from Delta Chapter

Delta Chapter's second social meeting of the current year was held on the last Thursday in November in the Delta Delta Delta sorority rooms, with Miss Delores Keith, prytanis, serving as hostess. The program consisted of two parts, the first being a discussion of Aristophanes' The Clouds, led by Miss Edna Agnew, hyparchos. This was the second of a series of programs devoted to the study of Greek comedy. The later part of the meeting was given over to a review of mythology, conducted by the hostess. A poem containing blanks in which names of mythological characters were to be inserted, and a "What's My Name?" contest, also based upon classical mythology, were used (see page 2). As a finale, each member and each guest (members of the Classical Languages Department) introduced himself, basing his identity upon some article which he had brought or worn to the meeting and which represented a character from the myths. Among those present were Mercury, Apollo, Minerva, Poseidon, Vulcan, etc.

In December, Delta Chapter entertained the ancient history class with a Christmas party at the home of Mrs. P. L. Powell, group sponsor. Following an explanation of the Roman Saturnalia, its significance to the Christians, and its survivals in contemporary customs, given by Miss Edna Agnew, the Christmas story from St. Luke was read in Latin by Miss Agnew. Next, a scrambled names contest, with names from Roman history, claimed attention. Charades were given by the guests divided into groups. The party closed with the singing of Latin songs, including Gaudeamus Igitur, Sancta Nox, and Adeste Fideles.

Page Eight

Theta Enjoys Christmas Meeting

"Christus natus est, Christus natus est!" crowed the cock.

ĩ

"Qua[,]a[,]a[,]ando?" croaked the raven. "Hoc nocte, hoc nocte!" replied the donkey.

"U-u-ubi?" lowed the ox.

"Be-e-e-ethlehem," answered the lamb.

The three shepherds gazed in wonder at the sight of animals talking—and in Latin! But the members of Theta chapter laughed appreciatively as Mrs. Frederick J. Menger, a former Latin teacher at the Bloomington High School, read A Christmas Masque at their December meeting. The masque, written in Elizabethan English, told the wellknown Christmas story, and was based on the ancient legend that the animals talk on Christmas Eve.

Carol singing by the group and a short talk on the Roman Saturnalia comprised the rest of the program.

Eta Studies Greek Tragedy

Miss Louise Whittier, epistolographos of Eta Chapter, writes that the first meeting of the school year was held on September 26, when candidates for membership in the Chapter were selected.

The second meeting was held on October 30th, at which time the Misses Lenore Cohen, Dorothy Reynolds, and Louise Whittier were initiated. After the initiation a program meeting was held during which Miss Roxilu Kelton, prytanis, spoke on the Greek dramatists before Aeschylus. Miss Jean McDowell discussed Aeschylus and Sophocles, after which Miss Frances Cofer presented the life and principal works of Euripides.

THE NUNTIUS

Members decided upon an intensive study of the Greek tragedy, mainly the plays dealing with Orestes by Aeschylus, Sophocles, and Euripides. These include House of Atreus by Aeschylus, Electra by Sophocles, and Iphigenia at Aulis and Iphigenia in Tauris by Euripides.

This meeting was held at the home of Miss Edith West, one of the faculty members of Eta. A short social hour followed the meeting.

At the next meeting members plan to discuss Aeschylus' Agamemnon, taking into consideration the plot, the unities of time and place, the moral theme and how it is carried out, the characters, and the chorus.

Lambda To Sponsor Meeting of Classical Club

The March meeting of the Classical Club of the University of Mississippi will be held under the supervision of members of Lambda Chapter. The Club consists of some one hundred and fifty members who are enrolled in the Department of Classics at the University.

Monthly meetings of the Chapter are held at which members speak on chosen subjects that are considered timely and of interest to the group.

Miss Mary Leila Bradley, NUNTIUS reporter, mentions also the initiation of three new members on December 5, Miss Lena Jones, Miss Thyrza Branton, and Mr. Roland Darnell.

Alpha Phi Celebrates Horace's Birthday

Professor Currie writes that the Alpha Phi Chapter on December 8 celebrated both the anniversary of Horace's birth and the anniversary of the founding of the Chapter. The recognition of these two events took the form of a banquet which was attended by some two dozen guests. The meeting was about two miles from Jackson, Mississippi, at Homewood Manor where, according to Professor Currie, " a wholesome banquet fit for the Olympian deities was served at ordinary prices."

Professor A. P. Hamilton, of the Latin faculty of Millsaps College, was the main speaker of the evening. He discussed in lively fashion the trip of four southern Classical Languages professors to the Southern Classical Association meeting at Charleston, South Carolina, which was held during the Thanksgiving vacation. Professor Currie supplemented his remarks with further details of the same program.

Pi Chapter Has Guest Speaker

Members of Pi Chapter were pleased to bring to Birmingham Southern College as guest speaker to their group Dr. Robert Epes Jones, Professor of Latin at the University of Alabama, who spoke on Brutus as portrayed in Shakespeare and in the letters of Cicero.

At the Christmas meeting the group sang songs in Latin and had a short report on the Southern Classical Association meeting in Charleston, South Carolina.

Alpha Omega Has Rushee Christmas Party

According to Mr. J. W. Lynn, Jr., NUNTIUS reporter of the Alpha Omega Chapter (Louisiana State University), the Chapter has had a progressive and active semester. In October Miss Mattie Louise Black and Mr. J. W. Lynn, Jr., were initiated into the organization, and shortly thereafter plans for receiving more pledges were considered.

Just before the Christmas holidays a successful Christmas party was held for the rushees. Much fun was had in unwrapping the top gifts that had been placed under the tree; after the party,

Page Nine

these toys were given to the Good Fellows Fund for a worthy cause.

The Chapter decided at the first meeting of the new year that at the first meeting of each month a member must give a speech on some classical subject.

Early in January the Chapter pledged the Misses Wanda Acosta, Edwina Warlick, and Gloria Wilkins and Messrs. Warrick Aiken, Erin Montgomery, and Robert Smith.

Plans for meeting the high school rally students are now under consideration.

Nine Initiated into Alpha Pi

Mr. Edwin D. Freed writes that the Alpha Pi Chapter held its first meeting of the year in October, 1940. At that meeting an initiation ceremony was held for nine new members. Seven of the nine new members are boys-an exceptionally large number to be initiated into Alpha Pi.

In November the second meeting of the year was held at Kappa Delta Rho, social fraternity. At that meeting one member reviewed the book The New Deal in Old Rome.

The December meeting of Alpha Pi was held at the home of Professor John G. Glenn, head of the Latin Department of Gettysburg College. Several of the members presented a short play: "Peace I Give Unto You." The play was very appropriate for the Christmas season. The entire group participated in singing Christmas carols in Latin.

Alpha Pi deserves honor by claiming the membership of two out of the three students to be elected to the local chapter of Phi Beta Kappa in October, 1940.

Muses Heard at Gamma

At the meeting of the Saturnalia, five new members-elect of Gamma Chapter at Ohio University, Athens, Ohio, were given the chance to strengthen

Page Ten

their classical intellect as they listened in at "The Convention of the Muses." This harried assembly of the worried goddesses of the universal arts gave a woeful, drawn-out tale of the sad conditions of the world. But refusing to be downcast, the undaunted Clio brought the convention to an end at a quick tempo as she pointed out to her sisters the opportunities open to them and urged them on to greater efforts than before.

But not even the sorrowful state of the universe could quench the spirits of Gamma members as they gaily exchanged gifts of the Saturnalia and spent a social hour in feasting, singing; and general celebration.

Beta Gamma Has Tea

Sunday, December 8, 1940, the Beta Gamma Chapter of Eta Sigma Phi at Westhampton College (University of Richmond) was host at a tea to about sixty members of the Latin Department. Christmas decorations filled the home of Dr. May L. Keller, Dean, and Miss Pauline Turnbull, head of the Latin Department, where the tea was held. In the course of the afternoon carols were sung, and included with them were Adeste Fideles and Integer Vitae. The tea was a huge success and aided greatly in forming a closer relationship between Eta Sigma Phi and the whole Latin Department.

Answers to "What's My Name?" Contest:

- 1. Ceres (Demeter)
- 2. Vulcan (Hephaestus)
- 3. Cadmus
- 4. Iris
- 5. Aeolus
- 6. Bacchus (Dionysus)
- 7. The Fates
- 8. Diana (Artemis, Cynthia, Hecate)
- 9. Apollo (Phoebus)
- 10. Orpheus

THE NUNTIUS

CHAPTER DIRECTORY

anston, Illinois

GAMMA-OHIO UNIVERSITY, Athens, Ohio GAMMA—OHIO UNIVERSITY, Athens, Ohio Prytanis: Alex Mekedis, 56 West Union St. Protohyparchos: Charles Skelly, 14 McKinley Ave. Deuterohyparchos: Ashby Coffman, 78 East State St. Epistolographos: LeNore Corey, 37 Franklin Ave. Grammateus: Evalyn Thomas, Boyd Hall Chrysophylax: Mary Lott, 15 Race St. Pyloros: William Meredith, 28 Poplar St.

* DELTA-FRANKLIN COLLEGE, Franklin, Indiana

Prytanis: Delores Keith, 345 East King St. Hyparchos: Edna Agnew, Women's Residence Hall Grammateus-Chrysophylax: Jane McAnally, Women's Residence Hall

EPSILON-THE STATE UNIVERSITY OF Iowa, Iowa City, Iowa

Prytanis: Wilma Kelley, 828 East Washington St. Hyparchoss William Meardon, R. F. D. No. 6 Grammateus: Ruth McLeran, Apt. C, 105 North

Clinton Chrysophylax: Lowell Satre, Hillcrest Pyloros: Paul Bordwell, 111 East Bloomington

ZETA—DENISON UNIVERSITY, Granville, Ohio

Prytanis: Ruth Ford, Beaver Hall Hyparchos: Lillian Kovachy, Shaw Hall Grammateus: Dorothy Gatton, Gillpatrick Hall

ETA-FLORIDA STATE COLLEGE FOR WO-MEN, Tallahassee, Florida Prytanis: Roxilu Kelton, 406 Landis Hall Epistolographos: Louise Whittier, 331 Gilchrist Hall

THETA-INDIANA UNIVERSITY, Blooming-

ton, Indíana Prytanis: Myra Jean Hennon, 327 S. College Ave. Hyparchos: Betty Jean Dickerson, Forest Hall Epistolographos: Mary Wienland, 322 South Fess Grammateus: Georgann Shuffiebarger, 312 North Washington Chrysophylax: Martha Bassett, Forest Hall

LAMBDA-UNIVERSITY OF MISSISSIPPI, University, Mississippi Prytanis: John H. Gordon Epistolographos: Mary Leila Bradley, Box 493 Grammateus: Lillian Dooley, Oxford, Miss. Chrysophylax: Willis F. Malley

NU-MORNINGSIDE COLLEGE, SIOUX City, Iowa

Prytanis: Robert Caine, 3842 Garretson Hyparchos: Mildred Wikert, 3312 Vine Ave. Epistolographos: Doreen Dallam, 3312 Vine Ave. Chrysophylax: William Smith, 2829 Leech Ave. Pyloros: Marie Berquist, 1309 28th St.

OMICRON—UNIVERSITY OF PENNSYLVA-NIA, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania Prytanis: Katharine E. Kaeser, 2210 North 7th St. Hyparchos: Adele Druckman, 5230 McKean Ave. Grammateus: Herbert Rubinstein, 4317 Wyalusing Ave. Chrysophylax: Gladys Meyer, 980 Carver St.

BETA-Northwestern University, Ev PI-Birmingham Southern College, Birmingham. Alabama Prytanis: Grace Fealy Hyparchos: Doris Pepper Grammateus: Nell Scoggins Chrysophylax: Dr. D. M. Key

RHO-DRAKE UNIVERSITY, Des Moines, Iowa

Prytanis: Joyce Walker, 1336 - 27th St.

SIGMA-MIAMI UNIVERSITY, Oxford, Ohio Prytanis: Mary D. Hoss, 24 Wells Hall Hyparchos: Herta Liebschwager, 9 Bishop Hall Epistolographos: Leila Chapman, North Dormitory Grammateus: Helen Nichols, South Dormitory Chrysophylax: Lucy Long, North Dormitory

UPSILON-MISSISSIPPI STATE COLLEGE FOR WOMEN, Columbus, Mississippi Prytanis: Edna Erle Waters Hyparchos: Mary Louise Matthews Grammateus: Eleanor Jean Tann Chrysophylax: Lotine Goza Pyloros: Winifred Cook

PSI-VANDERBILT UNIVERSITY, Nashville, Tennessee Prytanis: William C. Cornelius, 2019 Broad St. Hyparchos: Jeanette Olliver Epistolographos: Adeline Reubush Grammateus: Leslie Seaward Chrysophylax: John Bingham, Jr. Pyloros: Mary Brock

OMEGA-College of William and Mary, Williamsburg, Virginia Prytanis: Emily Wilson Hyparchos: Griffin C. Callahan, Sigma Phi House Epistolographos: Christel Ammer, Box 1183 Grammateus: Bettie Meade Creighton Chrysophylax: Howard A. Rogow, Monroe Hall Pyloros: Charles E. Stousland, Box 592

ALPHA ALPHA—WINTHROP COLLEGE. Rock Hill, South Carolina Prytanis: Nell Ecker Hyparchos: Margaret Noland Grammateus: Vada Newsome Chrysophylax: Alice Blake, Box 576

ALPHA GAMMA-Southern Methodist UNIVERSITY, Dallas, Texas Prytanis: Frances Whitaker, 3825 Hancock

ALPHA DELTA-AGNES SCOTT COLLEGE, Decatur, Georgia Prytanis: Harriette Cochran Hyparchos: Rebekah Hogan Epistolographos: Dorothy Travis Grammateus: Wallace Lyons Chrysophylax: Olivia White

ALPHA EPSILON-LEHIGH UNIVERSITY. Bethlehem, Pennsylvania

Prytanis: Harold King, 826 Delaware Ave. Hyparchos: Welles R. Bliss, 826 Delaware Ave. Epistolographos: Leon H. Plante, 826 Delaware Ave. Grammateus: John F. Hamblin, 826 Delaware Ave. Chrysophylax: Carl G. Konolige, 1125 North New St. Pyloros: Douglas M. Brown, 510 Delaware Ave.

Page Eleven

ALPHA THETA-HUNTER COLLEGE, New York City

Prytanis: Margaret Smiles, 1410 Parkchester Road.

Bronx Hyparchos: Elaine Cramoy, 40 Thayer St., Manhattan Grammateus: Dorothy Muskat, 24 Metropolitan Ave.,

Chrysophylax: Deborah Fuchs, 2294 Grand Ave., Bronx

ALPHA KAPPA-UNIVERSITY OF ILLINOIS, Urbana, Illinois

Prytanis: Virginia Whitley, 901 West California Hyparchos: Lora Palovic, 706 West Oregon Grammateus: Laura May Reid, 307 East Green, Cham-

paign Chrysophylax: Geraldine Cohen, 1111 West Nevada

ALPHA LAMBDA—UNIVERSITY OF OKLAнома, Norman, Oklahoma

Prytanis: Jean MacTaggart Hyparchos: Chesley P. Irwin Grammateus: Mary Ann Raleigh Chrysophylax: Glory Ann Crisp Pyloros: Barnell Bodard

- ALPHA MU-UNIVERSITY OF MISSOURI, Columbia, Missouri
- ALPHA NU-DAVIDSON COLLEGE, Davidson, North Carolina

ALPHA XI-WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY, St. Louis, Missouri

Prytanis: Marietta Elsner, 6418 South Kingshighway Hyparchos: Marie Gonzales, 3846 Shaw Blvd. Epistolographos: Loraine Elsner, 6418 South Kingshighway

Grammateus: Patricia May, 4924 Sutherland Ave. Chrysophylax: John White, 814 Clara Ave. Pyloros: Stanley Rosenblum, 6242 Southwood

ALPHA OMICRON-LAWRENCE COLLEGE, Appleton, Wisconsin

Prytanis: Margaret Banta, Russell Sage Hall Hyparchos: William Diver, 416 East Washington St. Grammatcus: Audrey Galpin, 1203 North Superior St. Chrysophylax: Dennis Wilch, 1133 East Nawada St.

ALPHA PI-GETTYSBURG COLLEGE, Gettysburg, Pennsylvania

Prytanis: Stanley Whitson, Kappa Delta Rho House Hyparchos: Leigh Bell, Phi Kappa Rho House Grammateus: Ruth Katz, Women's Division Chrysophylax: George Barrett, Phi Sigma Kappa House Pyloros: Harold Knoll, Phi Kappa Rho House

ALPHA RHO-MUHLENBERG COLLEGE, Allentown, Pennsylvania

Prytania Raymond C. Griesemer, 1432 Chew St. Hyparchos: Albert G. Hoffaman, % Dr. Reichard, 2139 Allen St. Grammateus: Robert E. Lorish, 1329 Hamilton St. Chrysophylax: J. William Marsh, 1449 Hamilton St.

ALPHA SIGMA-EMORY UNIVERSITY, Emory University, Georgia

ALPHA TAU-THE OHIO STATE UNIVER-SITY, Columbus, Ohio

Prytanis: Hazel Bachman, 80 West Woodruff Ave. Protohyparchos: Mary Ann Bunner, 44 North Brinker

Ave. Ave. Deuterohyparchos: Ruth Flickinger, 378 Walhalla Drive Epistolographos: Jean Conard, 125 Knox St., Wester-ville, Ohio

Grammateus: Romana Alexander, 297 West Tenth Ave. Chrysophylax: Donald Wilgus, 595 Bulen Ave. Pyloros: Frances Smith, 1181 Mt. Pleasant Ave.

Page Twelve

ALPHA UPSILON - THE COLLEGE OF WOOSTER, Wooster, Ohio

Prytanis: Annarie Peters, Babcock Hall Hyparchos: Katherine Sommerlatte, Babcock Hall Grammateus: Elizabeth Woodword, Babcock Hall Chrysophylax: Winifred Parsons, Babcock Hall Pyloros: John Bone, 814 North Bever St.

ALPHA PHI-MILLSAPS COLLEGE, Jackson, Mississippi

Prytanis: Carl Miller Hyparchos: Thomas Robertson Epistolographos: Mary Alyce Moore Grammateus: May Cavett Newsome Chrysophylax: Gayle Doggett Pyloros: Martha Gerald

ALPHA CHI-H. SOPHIE NEWCOMB ME-MORIAL COLLEGE, THE TULANE UNIVER-SITY OF LOUISIANA, New Orleans, Louisiana

Prytanis: Willamette Colley, 2328 Napoleon Ave. Hyparchos: Joseph Marchese, 5917 Patton St. Grammateus: Eleanor Bentley, 7635 Hampson St. Chrysophylax: Mrs. Felix H. Welsch, 1815 Robert St. Pyloros: Benjamin Petty, 1039 State St.

ALPHA PSI-WASHINGTON AND JEFFER-SON COLLEGE, Washington, Pennsylvania Prytanis: Kenneth V. Brown, 77 Highland Ave. Hyparchos: Robert McGregor, 148 Le Moyne Ave. Grammateus: Ambrose Sembrat, 35 Burton Ave. Chrysophylax: Robert H. Meloy, 75 Le Moyne Ave.

ALPHA OMEGA-LOUISIANA STATE UNI-VERSITY, Baton Rouge, Louisiana

Prytanis: Marjorie Moffitt, 3185 Highland Road, Baton Rouge

Hyparchos-Chrysophylax: Lazard Klinger, 3107 High-land Road, Baton Rouge Grammateus: Charlene Faught

BETA ALPHA-UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH DAKOTA, Vermillion, South Dakota

Prytanis: Alfred Thompson, 214 East Main St. Hyparchos: Doris Faris, Dakota Hall Epistolographos: Eloise Aker, 214 North Plum St. Grammateus Chrysophylax: Marietta Johnsen, Dakota Hall

Pyloros: Don Lillibridge, 500 South University St.

BETA BETA-FURMAN UNIVERSITY, Greenville, South Carolina

Prytanis: John A. Barry, Box 22 Hyparchos: Dorothy May Harrison, 5 Anderson Epistolographos: B. F. Hawkins, R.F.D. No. Grammateus: Emanuel Cheros, 116 Rose Ave. Chrysophylax: Martin G. Hunter, Box 84 Pyloros: Lewis E. McCormick Anderson St.

BETA GAMMA — WESTHAMPTON COL-LEGE, UNIVERSITY OF RICHMOND, Rich-mond, Virginia

Prytanis: Josephine Fennell, R. F. D. No. 2 Hyparchos: May Thayer, 2014 Hanover Ave. Epistolographos: Helen Hill, 46 Willway Ave. Grammateus: Rosalie Clary, Dumbarton, Virginia Chrysophylax: Clarine Cunningham, 731 Byrd Park

Court

•

Pyloros: Ethne Flanagan, 4007 Wythe Ave.

